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PART I:  GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 Nature of Application  

1.1.1 Application Type 

 For leave for a transmitter or distributor to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of its transmission 
or distribution system as an entirety or substantially as an entirety (section 86(1)(a)) 

 For leave for a transmitter or distributor to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of that part of its 
transmission or distribution system that is necessary in serving the public (section 86(1)(b)) 

 For leave for a transmitter or distributor to amalgamate with any other corporation (section 
86(1)(c)) 

 For leave for a person to acquire voting securities that will exceed 20% of a distributor or 
transmitter (section 86(2)(a)) 

 For leave for a person to acquire control of a company that holds more than 20% of the 
voting securities of a transmitter or distributor if such voting securities constitute a significant 
asset of the corporation (section 86(2)(b)) 

1.1.2 Notice under section 80 or 81 of the Act 

Is a notice of proposal required under section 80 or 81 of the Act? 

 Yes 

 No 

If yes, the applicant must also file a completed “Preliminary Filing Requirements for a Notice of 
Proposal Under Sections 80 and 81 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998” with the Board. 
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1.2 Identification of the Parties 

1.2.1 Name of Applicant 

Legal name of the applicant:  Niagara Power Incorporated (“NPI”) 

Name of Primary Contact: 
         
Mr.  Mrs.   Last Name  First Name  Initial  
Miss  Ms.   Detenbeck  James    
Other          
   Title/Position      
   Chair  
                            
 
Address of Head Office: 
         
 City  Province/State  Country  Postal/Zip Code  
 Grimsby  Ontario  Canada  L3M5N2  
         
 Phone Number  Fax Number  E-mail Address    
 905-945-5437  905-945-9933  jamesdetenbeck@hotmail.com   
       
 

1.2.2 Other Party to the Transaction (if more than one attach a list) 

Name of the other party:  Peninsula West Power Incorporated (“PWPI”) 

Name of Primary Contact: 
         
Mr.  Mrs.   Last Name  First Name  Initial  
Miss  Ms.   Walker  Brian    
Other          
   Title/Position      
   President & Secretary-Treasurer  
                            
 
Address of Head Office: 
         
 City  Province/State  Country  Postal/Zip Code  
 Smithville  Ontario  Canada  L0R 2A0  
         
 Phone Number  Fax Number  E-mail Address    
 905-892-5225    Brian.walker@sympatico.ca  
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Name of the other party:  Niagara West Transformation Corporation (“NWTC”) 

Name of Primary Contact: 
         
Mr.  Mrs.   Last Name  First Name  Initial  
Miss  Ms.   Bacchus  Shafee  R  
Other          
   Title/Position      
   VP of Administration & Secretary  
                            
 
Address of Head Office: 
         
 City  Province/State  Country  Postal/Zip Code  
 Grimsby  Ontario  Canada  L3M 5N2  
         
 Phone Number  Fax Number  E-mail Address    
 905-945-5437  905-945-9933  s.bacchus@bell.net  
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1.3 Description of the Business of Each of the Parties 

1.3.1 Please provide a description of the business of each of the parties to the proposed transaction, 
including each of their affiliates engaged in, or providing goods or services to anyone engaged in, the 
generation, transmission, distribution or retailing of electricity (“Electricity Sector Affiliates”). 

NPI 

NPI is a holding company owned by The Corporation of the Town of Grimsby (“Town of Grimsby”) 
and FortisOntario Inc. (“FortisOntario”). 

NPI has four subsidiaries: 

• Grimsby Power Inc., a licensed electricity distributor; 

• Grimsby Hydro Inc., is the deregulated company that was set up as our retail affiliate. 
Originally, it was in the business of fibre optic telecommunications and related activities. 
Later, the fibre optic assets were sold for shares in a region-wide telecommunication business 
known as Niagara Regional Broadband Networks. Grimsby Hydro maintains a 25% equity 
ownership in this company along with three other utility partners. 

• Grimsby Energy Inc., an energy service provider Grimsby Energy Incorporated is a services 
company which is responsible for exploring green energy and other business opportunities. 
Their assets are held by Niagara Power Inc. 

• Niagara West Transformation Corporation, a licensed electricity transmitter; and 

NPI also has an indirect interest in Niagara Regional Broadband Networks, a subsidiary of Grimsby 
Hydro Inc. 

PWPI 

Peninsula West Power Inc. Is a holding company owned by The Corporation of the Town of Lincoln, 
The Corporation of the Township of West Lincoln, and The Corporation of the Town of Pelham. 

PWPI has two subsidiaries: 

• Peninsula West Services Ltd., an energy service provider 

• Niagara West Transformation Corporation, a licensed electricity transmitter. 

 

PWPI also owns a minority interest (25.5%) in Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc, a licensed electricity 
distributor whose service territory includes the City of Niagara Falls, the Town of Lincoln, the Township 
of West Lincoln, and the former Village of Fonthill in the Town of Pelham. 

 

5



Niagara West Transformation Corporation 

NWTC is a licensed electricity transmitter, owning and operating a transmission station that provides 
power to PWPI and Grimsby Power.  NWTC’s transformation station is located in the Township of 
West Lincoln and consists of: 

• A transformer station with connection to Hydro One Networks Inc.; and 

• Transmission Lines Q23BM and Q25BM to supply power to the two local distribution 
companies Grimsby Power and PWPI located at 3021 Regional Road #12, Grassie, Ontario. 

 

1.3.2 Please provide a description of the geographic territory served by each of the parties to the proposed 
transaction, including each of their Electricity Sector Affiliates, if applicable. 

Please refer to the response provided in section 1.3.1 above. 

 

1.3.3 Please provide a description of the customers, including the number of customers in each class, served 
by each of the parties to the proposed transaction. 

Niagara West Transformation Corporation 

NWTC’s transformer station serves two customers, Grimsby Power and PWPI, representing a total 
load of 429,664 kW as of January 2011 – December 2011. 

 

1.3.4 Please provide a description of the proposed geographic service area of each of the parties after 
completion of the proposed transaction. 

The proposed geographic service area of each of the parties after completion of the proposed 
transaction will not change.  

 

1.3.5 Please attach a corporate chart describing the relationship between each of the parties to the proposed 
transaction and each of their respective affiliates. 

Please refer to Attachment 1.3.5 of this application for a corporate chart describing the relationship 
between each of the parties to the proposed transactions. 
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1.4 Description of the Proposed Transaction  

1.4.1 Please provide a detailed description of the proposed transaction. 

NPI and PWPI each own 50% of the shares in NWTC.  The shareholders and their respective 
ownership interest in NWTC are as follows: 

Shareholder No. of Common Shares 
(voting shares) 

No. of Class A Shares 
(non-voting shares) 

NPI 50 120 

PWPI 50 120 

According to the Letter of Intent dated February 10, 2012 (the “LOI”), PWPI intends to sell, and NPI 
intends to purchase, all of the PWPI’s interest (the “Shares”) in NWTC (the “Share Transaction”).  A 
copy of the form of Share Purchase Agreement for the proposed Share Transaction can be found in 
Attachment 1.5.2(b) of this application.  

 

1.4.2 Please provide the details of the consideration (e.g. cash, assets, shares) to be given and received by 
each of the parties to the proposed transaction. 

The proposed purchase price, being the fair market value of the Shares, will be one million Canadian 
dollars (CAD$1,000,000) (the “Purchase Price”).  It is the intention of NPI to fully own NWTC upon 
completion of the Share Transaction.   

1.4.3 Please attach the financial statements (including balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow 
statement) of the parties to the proposed transaction for the past two most recent years. 

Please refer to Attachment 1.4.3  

1.4.4 Please attach the pro forma financial statements for each of the parties (or if amalgamation, the one 
party) for the first full year following the completion of the proposed transaction. 

Please refer to Attachment 1.4.4 

1.5 Documentation  

1.5.1 Please provide copies of all annual reports, proxy circulars, prospectuses or other information filed with 
securities commissions or similar authorities or sent to shareholders for each of the parties to the 
proposed transaction and their affiliates within the past 2 years. 

Please refer to Attachment 1.5.1 
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1.5.2 Please list all legal documents (including those currently in draft form if not yet executed) to be used to 
implement the proposed transaction. 

Please find attached to this application the following documents: 

1) LOI, as Attachment 1.5.2(a);  

2) Share Purchase Agreement between PWPI and NPI, as Attachment 1.5.2(b);  

3) Corporate approvals from NPI/PWPI, approving the transaction.  Attached as  Attachment 1.5.2(c) 

 

1.5.3 Please list all Board issued licences held by the parties and confirm that the parties will be in 
compliance with all licence, code and rule requirements both before and after the proposed transaction. 
If any of the parties will not be in compliance with all applicable licences, codes and rules after 
completion of the proposed transaction, please explain the reasons for such non-compliance. (Note: 
any application for an exemption from a provision of a rule or code is subject to a separate application 
process.) 

The following Board issued licences are held by the parties to this application: 

1) an Electricity Transmitter Licence , held by NWTC, ET-2010-0294, a copy of which is attached to 
this application as Exhibit 1.5.3(a);  

The parties confirm the parties will be in compliance with all licence, code and rule requirements both 
before and after the Share Transactions.  

1.6 Consumer Protection  

1.6.1 Please explain whether the proposed transaction will cause a change of control of any of the 
transmission or distribution system assets, at any time, during or by the end of the transaction. 

The Share Transaction will result in a change of control of the transmission system assets of NWTC.  
As stated above, NPI is currently a 50% owner of NWTC.  The Share Transaction will result in NPI 
becoming the sole shareholder, and therefore 100% owner, of NWTC. 

1.6.2 Please indicate the impact the proposed transaction will have on consumers with respect to prices and 
the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service. 

No impact 
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1.6.3 Please describe the steps, including details of any capital expenditure plans, that will be taken to 
ensure that operational safety and system integrity are maintained after completion of the proposed 
transaction. 

No capital expenditure plans are proposed 

 

1.6.4 Please provide details, including any capital expenditure plans, of how quality and reliability of service 
will be maintained after completion of the proposed transaction. Indicate where service centres will be 
located and expected response times. 

see response to 1.6.3 

 

1.6.5 Please indicate whether the parties to the proposed transaction intend to undertake a rate 
harmonization process after the proposed transaction is completed. If yes, please provide a description 
of the plan. 

no rate harmonization process will be undertaken 

 

1.6.6 If the application is for an amalgamation, please provide a proposal for the time of rebasing the 
consolidated entity in accordance with the five-year limit set by the Board. 

NPI is not proposing to rebase.  Application is strictly for the acquisition of shares. 

 

1.6.7 Please identify all incremental costs that the parties to the proposed transaction expect to incur. These 
may include incremental transaction costs, (i.e., legal), incremental merged costs (i.e., employee 
severances), and incremental ongoing costs (i.e., purchase and maintenance of new IT systems). 
Please explain how the new utility plans to finance these costs. 

The only incremental transaction costs are for legal expenses related to the purchase of the shares as 
proposed. 

 

1.6.8 Please describe the changes, if any, in distribution or transmission rate levels (as applicable) and the 
impact on the total bill that may result from the proposed transaction. 

  There will be none. 
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1.6.9 Please provide details of the costs and benefits of the proposed transaction to the customers of the 
parties to the proposed transaction. 

Purchasing shares only.  No affect to customers.. 

 

1.7 Economic Efficiency 

1.7.1 Please indicate the impact the proposed transaction will have on economic efficiency and cost 
effectiveness (in the distribution or transmission of electricity). Details on the impacts of the proposed 
transaction on economic efficiency and cost effectiveness should include, but are not limited to, impacts 
on administration support functions such as IT, accounting, and customer service. 

No additional impact is anticipated as this is an application related to the purchase of shares only. 

 

1.8 Financial Viability 

1.8.1 Please provide a valuation of any assets or shares that will be transferred in the proposed transaction.  
Provide details on how this value was determined, including any assumptions made about future rate 
levels. 

NWTC has an operational loss and also a loss on the interest swap agreement.  The operational loss 
has been deducted from the total capital of $2,400,100 invested by both parties.  The amount left is 
$1,698,978 or $849,489 for each party that invested in NWTC.  See Attachment 1.8.1 
 

1.8.2 If the price paid as part of the proposed transaction is significantly more than the book value of the 
assets of the selling utility, please provide details as to why this price will not have an adverse affect on 
the economic viability of the acquiring utility. 

Price paid is $150,000 less than the book value.  

   
 

 

1.8.3 Please provide details of the financing of the proposed transaction. 

Niagara Power will be paying out of their current cash account. 
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1.8.4 If the proposed transaction involves a leasing arrangement, please identify separately any assets in the 
service area that are owned, from those assets that are encumbered by any means, e.g., subject to a 
lease or debt covenant. 

No leasing arrangement in anticipated in the Share Transaction. 

 

1.8.5 Please outline the capital (debt/equity) structure, on an actual basis, of the parties to the proposed 
transaction prior to the transaction and on a pro forma basis after completion of the proposed 
transaction. In order to allow the Board to assess any potential impacts on the utility's financial viability, 
please include the terms associated with the debt structure of the utility as well as the utility's dividend 
policy after the completion of the proposed transaction. Please ensure that any debt covenants 
associated with the debt issue are also disclosed. 

The debt/equity structure in 2011 is 42.38%.  Projections for 2012 and 2013 are 44.20% and 43.59% 
respectively.  See Attachment 1.8.5 

1.8.6 Please provide details of any potential liabilities associated with the proposed transaction in relation to 
public health and safety matters or environmental matters. These may be matters that have been 
identified in the audited financial statements or they may be matters that the parties have become 
aware of since the release of the most recently audited financial statements. If there are any pre-
existing potential liabilities regarding public health and safety matters or environmental matters for any 
party to the proposed transaction, provide details on how the parties propose to deal with those 
potential liabilities after the transaction is completed. Specify who will have on-going liability for the pre-
existing potential liabilities. 

None anticipated 

 

1.9 Other Information  

1.9.1 If the proposed transaction requires the approval of a parent company, municipal council or any other 
entity please provide a copy of appropriate resolutions indicating that all such parties have approved 
the proposed transaction. 

See attachment 1.9.1 

1.9.2 Please list all suits, actions, investigations, inquiries or proceedings by any government body, or other 
legal or administrative proceeding, except proceedings before the Board, that have been instituted or 
threatened against each of the parties to the proposed transaction or any of their respective affiliates. 

There are none 
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1.9.3 Regarding net metering thresholds, the Board will, absent exceptional circumstances, add together the 
kW threshold amounts allocated to the individual utilities and assign the sum to the new or remaining 
utility. Please indicate the current net metering thresholds of the utilities involved in the proposed 
transaction. Please also indicate if there are any special circumstances that may warrant the Board 
using a different methodology to determine the net metering threshold for the new or remaining utility. 

There are no special circumstances that would warrant the Board to use a different methodology to 
determine the net metering threshold for the new or remaining utility. 

 

 

1.9.4 Please provide the Board with any other information that is relevant to the application. When providing 
this additional information, please have due regard to the Board's objectives in relation to electricity. 

Nothing further 

 

PART II:  CERTIFICATION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

2.1 Certification and Acknowledgment  

I certify that the information contained in this application and in documents provided are true and accurate. 

Signature of Key Individual Print Name of Key Individual 
 
 James Detenbeck   

Title/Position 
Chair 
      

  
 
Date   August 13, 2012  
   

Company 
 
 Niagara Power Incorporated  

 
(Must be signed by a key individual. A key individual is one that is responsible for executing the following 
functions for the applicant: matters related to regulatory requirements and conduct, financial matters and 
technical matters. These key individuals may include the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, 
other officers, directors or proprietors.) 

TOR01: 4931921: v2 
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Attachment 1.3.5 
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Attachment 1.4.3 
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P.O. BOX 68,      76  MAIN STREET WEST,      GRIMSBY  ON     L3M 4G1 

TEL.  905.945.4942  FAX.905.945.0306  EMAIL :   contactus@southdav.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AUDITORS' REPORT  

To the Shareholders 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Niagara Power Incorporated as at December 31, 
2009 and the consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings and cash flows for the year 
then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the company as at December 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

Southcott Davoli  

   Professional Corporation 
 

Chartered Accountants 

Authorized to practise public accounting by  
   The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario 

Grimsby, Ontario 

June 30, 2010 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
 
December 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008  
 
  2009 2008 % Change 
 
Assets 
 

Current assets: 
Cash $ 6,023,854 $ 5,199,662  15.9 
Accounts receivable:    

Service revenue 676,558 613,228 10.3 
Other 309,229 161,492 91.5 

Unbilled revenue 1,530,845 1,669,759 (8.3) 
Inventory 181,884 185,209 (1.8) 
Prepaid expenses 36,107 93,671 (61.5) 
Payment in lieu of taxes 190,874 –    100.0 
  8,949,351 7,923,021 13.0 

 
Long-term investment (note 4) 375,020 375,020 0.0 
 
Capital assets (note 5) 14,664,540 14,368,666 2.1 
 
Deposit on long term asset 94,500 –    – 
 
Future payment in lieu of taxes 1,032,859 420,500 145.6 
  $ 25,116,270 $ 23,087,207  8.8 
 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,745,322 $ 2,728,945  0.6 
Payment in lieu of taxes –    21,641 – 
Current portion of term loan 99,000 91,500 8.2 
  2,844,322 2,842,086 – 
 

Long-term liabilities: 
Customers’ and developers’ deposits 353,898 320,162 10.5 
Promissory note (note 6) 5,782,746 5,782,746 – 
Regulatory liabilities (note 7) 2,006,213 1,362,813 47.2 
Term loan (note 8) 2,508,000 2,607,000 (3.8) 
  10,650,857 10,072,721 5.7 

Shareholders’ equity: 
Share capital (note 9) 9,087,417 7,987,327 13.8 
Retained earnings 2,533,674 2,185,073 16.0 
  11,621,091 10,172,400 14.2 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (note 10) 
 
Subsequent events (note 11) 
  $ 25,116,270 $23,087,207  8.8 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
Approved by the Board: 
 
______________________________, Director           ______________________________, Director 

20



 

 

NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings and Retained Earnings 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008 
 
  2009 2008 % Change 
 
Power revenue $ 16,898,566 $16,600,997  1.8 
 
Cost of power  13,267,609 12,952,453 2.4 
  3,630,957 3,648,544 (0.5) 
 
Other revenue: 

Investment   178,845 294,664 (39.3) 
Miscellaneous  321,178 264,045 21.6 
Loss on sale of capital assets (2,281) (1,598) 42.7 
  497,742 557,111 (10.7) 

 
  4,128,699 4,205,655 (1.8) 
 
Expenses: 

Operations 228,090 200,473 13.8 
Maintenance 380,246 409,936 (7.2) 
Administration  757,180 763,421 (0.8) 
Billing and collecting  447,268 470,688 (5.0) 
Marketing  11,428 33,426 (65.8) 
Property taxes   30,314 27,150 11.7 
Capital taxes  –    416 – 
Amortization  1,057,938 933,359 13.3 
Interest on long-term liabilities  499,430 643,494 (22.4) 
  3,411,894 3,482,363 (2.0) 

 
Earnings for the year 

 before payment in lieu of taxes 716,805 723,292 (0.9) 
 
Payment in lieu of taxes (note 12): 

Current (625) 223,056 (99.7) 
Future 158,623 (151,700) 4.7 
  157,998 71,356 (321.4) 

 
Net earnings 558,807 651,936 (14.3) 
 
Retained earnings, beginning of year 2,185,073 1,533,137 42.5 
 
Adjustment for change in accounting policy (note 2) (210,206) –    – 
 
Retained earnings, end of year $ 2,533,674 $ 2,185,073  16.0 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008 
 
  2009 2008 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 
Operations: 

Net earnings  $ 558,807 $ 651,936 
Items not involving cash:  

Amortization (including amounts  
charged to operating accounts) 1,057,938 965,706 

Loss on sale of capital assets 2,281 1,598 
Future payment in lieu of taxes 158,623 (148,000) 

Change in fair value of interest rate swap (108,465) 3,500 
Change in non-cash working capital (note 13) (65,201) (83,422) 
  1,603,983 1,391,318 

 
Financing: 

Capital contributions received 87,808 82,200 
Repayment of term loan (91,500) (87,000) 
  (3,692) (4,800) 

 
Investments: 

Proceeds on sale of capital assets 3,010 110 
Increase (decrease) in regulatory liabilities (337,788) 107,056 
Additions to capital assets (1,446,911) (1,047,176) 
Deposit on long term asset (94,500) –    
Increase in share capital 1,100,090 –    
   (776,099) (940,010) 

 
Increase in cash 824,192 446,508 
 
Cash, beginning of year 5,199,662 4,753,154 
 
Cash, end of year $ 6,023,854 $ 5,199,662 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 

The company is incorporated under the laws of Ontario and its principal business activities are to 
distribute power, retail electricity and provide telecommunication services and hydro 
transformation services.   

1. Accounting policies: 

(a) Basis of presentation: 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company’s 100% owned 
subsidiaries, Grimsby Energy Incorporated, Grimsby Hydro Incorporated and Grimsby Power 
Incorporated.  The company owns 50% of a joint venture, Niagara West Transformation 
Corporation, and records its investment using the proportionate consolidation method of 
accounting.  Under this method the company includes its proportionate share of the joint 
venture’s revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in the financial statements. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with the bank. 

(c) Unbilled revenue: 

Unbilled revenue is accrued from the last meter reading date to the end of the period. 

(d) Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on the 
average basis. 

(e) Investments: 

Long-term investments are recorded at cost.  Interest and dividends from these investments 
are included in income when received.  When there has been a loss in value of an 
investment that is other than a temporary decline, the investment is written down to reflect 
the loss. 

(f) Capital assets: 

Capital assets are stated at cost.  The cost and related accumulated amortization of capital 
assets are removed from the accounts at the end of their estimated service lives except in 
those instances where specific identification permits their removal at retirement or 
disposition.  Gains and losses at retirement or disposition are credited or charged to income.  
Contributions in aid of capital assets are recorded as deferred credits and amortized to 
income over the life of the related assets. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 2 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 
1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Capital assets (continued): 

Amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates: 

 
Asset Basis Rate 
 
Buildings Straight-line 25-50 years 
Distribution stations Straight-line 25 years 
Distribution plant Straight-line 25 years 
General equipment Straight-line 3-40 years 
Capital contributions Straight-line 25 years 
 

Contributions in aid of construction consist of third party contributions toward the cost of 
constructing company assets.  Contributed capital has been charged to capital assets and 
recorded as an offset to capital assets.  Amortization is on a straight-line basis over 25 years. 

(g) Impairment of long-lived assets: 

Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized 
when their carrying value exceeds the total undiscounted cash flows expected from their use 
and eventual disposition.  The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of 
the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. 

(h) Asset retirement obligations: 

The company recognizes the liability for an asset retirement that results from acquisition, 
construction, development, or through normal operations.  The liability for an asset retirement 
is initially recorded at its fair value in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable 
estimate of fair value can be made.  The corresponding cost is capitalized as part of the 
related asset and is amortized over the asset’s useful life.  In subsequent years the liability is 
adjusted for changes resulting from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or 
the amount of the original estimate of the undiscounted cash flows.  The accretion of the 
liability to its fair value as a result of the passage of time is charged to earnings. 

(i) Payments in lieu of taxes (PILs): 

The company is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (ITA) and 
the Ontario Corporations Tax Act (OCTA). 

Pursuant to the Electricity Act (EA), the company is required to compute taxes under the ITA 
and OCTA and remit such amounts thereunder computed to the Ministry of Finance 
(Ontario).   
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 3 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 
1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Payments in lieu of taxes (PILs) (continued): 

The company provides for PILs using the asset and liability method.  Under this method, 
future tax assets and liabilities are recognized, to the extent such are determined likely to be 
realized, for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.   

Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the date of enactment 
or substantive enactment.  When unrecorded future income taxes become payable, it is 
expected that they will be included in the rates approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB) 
and recovered from the customers of the company at that time. 

PILs recoverable from loss carryforwards are recorded in future payments in lieu of taxes on 
the balance sheet at the current enacted statutory tax rates expected to apply when recovery 
of the loss carryforwards are expected to be recovered. 

(j) Customers’ and developers’ deposits: 

Customers’ and developers’ deposits are recorded when received or paid.  Deposits earn 
interest at a rate of prime less 2%. 

(k) Regulatory assets and liabilities: 

Regulatory assets and liabilities represent differences between amounts collected through 
rates (OEB approved) and actual costs incurred by the distributor.  Regulatory assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet at year-end consist of settlement variances on the cost of 
power, deferred charges, and the associated regulated interest. 

(l) Revenue recognition: 

Power revenue is recognized on the accrual basis, which includes an estimate of unbilled 
revenue.  Service revenue is recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimated 
customer usage since the last meter reading date to the end of the year.  The related cost of 
power is recorded on the basis on power used.  Any discrepancies in the revenue collected 
and the associated cost of power to distribute are charged to regulatory assets. 

Transformation revenue is recorded from the transformation of electricity on the basis of peak 
demand for the month.  Revenue is recognized when the peak demand has occurred. 

Other revenue is recognized as earned. 
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1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(m) Financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their 
subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification as described below. Their 
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or 
issued, their characteristics and the company’s designation of such instruments. Settlement 
date accounting is used. 

The company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

Cash Held-for-trading 
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables 
Unbilled revenue Loans and receivables 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities 
Customers’ and developers’ deposits Other liabilities 
Promissory note Other liabilities 
Term loan Other liabilities 

(i) Held-for-trading: 

Held-for-trading financial assets are financial assets typically acquired for resale prior 
to maturity or that are designated as held-for-trading.  They are measured at fair 
value at the balance sheet date.  Fair value fluctuations including interest earned, 
interest accrued, gains and losses realized on disposal and unrealized gains and 
losses are included in other income. 

Financial liabilities designated as held-for-trading are those non-derivative financial 
liabilities that the company elects to designate on initial recognition as instruments 
that it will measure at fair value through other interest expense.  These are 
accounted for in the same manner as held-for-trading assets.  The company has not 
designated any non-derivative financial liabilities as held-for-trading. 

(ii) Loans and receivables: 

Loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

(iii) Other liabilities: 

Other liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
and include all financial liabilities, other than derivative instruments. 
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1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(m) Financial instruments (continued): 

In December 2006, the CICA issued Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures and 
Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation. Originally these sections were applicable 
to financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2007. 
Accordingly, the company had planned to adopt the new standards for its fiscal year 
beginning January 1, 2008. However, in October 2008, the Accounting Standards Board 
(“AcSB”) of the CICA decided that rate-regulated enterprises that are not public enterprises 
as defined in Section 1300, Differential Reporting, will not be required to apply Sections 3862 
and 3863 and would continue to apply Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and 
Presentation. Therefore, in accordance with this decision, the company continues to apply 
Section 3861. 

Derivatives: 

The company does not have derivatives and does not engage in derivative trading or 
speculative activities. Hedge accounting has not been used in the presentation of these 
financial statements. 

(n) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and note disclosures related thereto.  Due to the inherent 
uncertainty in making estimates, actual results could differ from these estimates recorded in 
preparing these financial statements including changes as a result of future regulatory 
decisions. 

Accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and regulatory assets are stated after evaluation of 
amounts expected to be collected and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts.  
Inventory is recorded net of provisions for obsolescence.  Amounts recorded for amortization 
of capital assets are based on estimates of useful service life.  Other significant estimates 
and assumptions were used when accounting for items such as the determination of the fair 
market value of the interest rate swap, revenue recognition and future payment in lieu of 
taxes.  

2. Changes in accounting policies: 

Effective January 1, 2009, the company adopted the following new Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants’ (CICA) Handbook sections: 

 1100, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

27



 

NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 6 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 

2. Changes in accounting policies (continued): 

(a) Rate regulated accounting: 

CICA Handbook Section 1100 was amended to remove the temporary exemption that 
provided relief to entities subject to rate regulation from the requirement to apply Section 
1100 to the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities arising from rate regulation. 
In accordance with Section 1100, the company determined all of its regulatory assets and 
liabilities qualified for recognition under Canadian GAAP. 

The implementation of this standard did not have any impact on the company’s results of 
operations or financial position. 

(b) Goodwill and intangible assets: 

On January 1, 2009, the company adopted CICA section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets, which replaced Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and which 
resulted in the withdrawal of Section 3450, Research and Development Costs and of 
Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) Abstract 27, Revenues and Expenditures During the 
Pre-operating Period, and the amendment of Accounting Guideline (“AcG”) 11, Enterprises in 
the Development Stage. The new Section establishes standards for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill subsequent to its initial recognition 
and of intangible assets by profit-oriented enterprises. In particular, the new standard sets out 
specific criteria for the recognition of intangible assets and clarifies the application of the 
concept of matching costs with revenues, so as to eliminate the practice of recognizing as 
assets items that do not meet the definition of an asset or satisfy the recognition criteria for 
an asset. The adoption of this section had no impact on the financial statements. 

(c) Regulatory liabilities: 

Effective January 1, 2009, the company changed its accounting policy with respect to the 
recoverability of future payments in lieu of taxes from ratepayers. This change was made to 
conform with current year modification of industry standards with regards to the accounting 
treatment of future payments in lieu of taxes. This accounting policy was applied 
retrospectively without restatement of prior year balances. Consequently, opening retained 
earnings as at January 1, 2009 has been decreased by $210,206, with a corresponding 
decrease in the future payments in lieu of taxes asset by $210,206. 

3. Future changes in accounting policies: 

(a) International financial reporting standards (IFRS): 

In July 2010, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) proposed that rate-regulated 
enterprises be required to adopt IFRS in place of Canadian GAAP effective January 1, 2013. 
The company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of IFRS on its financial 
statements. At this time, the impact on the company’s future financial position and results of 
operations is not reasonably determinable or estimable. 
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4. Long-term investment: 

The investment consists of 2,000 common shares of Niagara Regional Broadband Network 
Limited (NRBN). 

5. Capital assets: 

 
   2009 2008  
   Accumulated Net book Net book 
  Cost amortization value value 
 
Land $ 186,552 $ –    $ 186,552 $ 186,552 
Buildings 1,296,716 402,443 894,273 922,324 
Distribution plant 25,324,324 11,670,950 13,653,374 13,389,681  
General equipment 
 and intangibles 4,786,412 1,752,593 3,033,819 3,047,724 
Capital contributions (4,109,851) (1,006,373) (3,103,478) (3,177,615) 
 
  $27,484,153 $ 12,819,613 $14,664,540 $14,368,666 
 

Contributions are received from third parties to finance necessary capital additions. During the 
year the company received $130,482 (2008 - $162,160) of capital contributions in aid of 
construction.  

6. Promissory note: 

The promissory note payable to the Town of Grimsby bears interest at the rate of 7.25% per 
annum and matures on February 1, 2020.  Included in interest on long-term liabilities is $419,249 
(2008- $419,249) related to this note.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $419,249 
(2008 - $419,249) owing to the Town of Grimsby. 

7. Regulatory assets (liabilities): 

 
  2009 2008 
 
Regulatory assets (liabilities) 

Settlement variances $ (2,140,038) $ (1,324,084) 
Smart meters 114,496 (57,900) 
Regulatory assets recovery amount 19,329 19,171 

 
  $ (2,006,213) $ (1,362,813) 
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7. Regulatory assets (liabilities) (continued): 

Net regulatory assets (liabilities) represent costs incurred by the company in excess of amounts 
billed to the consumer (amounts recovered from customers in excess of cost incurred) at OEB 
approved rates less recoveries.  These amounts have been accumulated pursuant to the 
Electricity Act and deferred in anticipation of their future recovery in electricity distribution rates.  
Management assesses the future uncertainty with respect to the final regulatory disposition of 
those amounts, and to the extent required, makes accounting provisions to reduce the deferred 
balances accumulated or to increase the recorded liabilities.  Upon rendering of the final 
regulatory decision adjusting distribution rates, the provisions are adjusted to reflect the final 
impact of that decision, and such adjustment is reflected in net earnings for the period.  

Regulatory assets (liabilities) earn (incur) interest at the prescribed rates.  In 2009, the rates 
ranged from 0.55% to 2.45% (2008 – 3.35% to 5.14%). 

Settlement variances represent amounts that have accumulated since Market Opening and 
comprise: 

(a) variances between amounts charged by the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) 
for the operation of the wholesale electricity market and grid, various wholesale market 
settlement charges and transmission charges, and the amounts billed to customers by the 
company based on the OEB approved wholesale market service rate; and 

(b) variances between the amounts charged by the IESO for energy commodity costs and the 
amounts billed to customers by the company based on OEB approved rates. 

Smart meters: 

The Province of Ontario has committed to have “Smart Meter” electricity meters installed in 
800,000 homes and small businesses by the end of 2008 and throughout Ontario by the end of 
2010.  Smart meters permit consumption to be recorded within specific time intervals and specific 
tariffs to be levied within such intervals.  The company has installed 235 Smart Meters as of the 
end of 2009 and anticipates having installed a total of 9,885 Smart Meters upon completion of its 
mass deployment. Bill 21, Energy Conservation and Responsibility Act, provides the legislative 
framework and regulations to support this initiative. 

Included in distribution rates, effective May 1, 2006, is a charge for smart meters of $0.27 (2008 - 
$0.27) per metered customer per month.  Consistent with the OEB’s direction and pending further 
guidance, all smart meter related expenditures and recoveries are currently being deferred in 
regulatory accounts. 

Regulatory assets recovery amount represents costs incurred by the company as of December 
31, 2004 which have been approved for recovery through rates net of amounts recovered from 
customers. 

The continuing restructuring of Ontario’s electricity industry and other regulatory developments, 
including current and possible future consultations between the OEB and interested 
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stakeholders, may affect the distribution rates that the company may charge and the costs that 
the company may recover, including the balance of its regulatory assets. 
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7. Regulatory assets (liabilities) (continued): 

In the absence of rate regulation, Canadian generally accepted accounting principles would 
require the company to record the costs and recoveries described above in the operating results 
of the year in which they are incurred and reported earnings before income taxes would be 
$528,270 lower (2008 - $107,056 higher) than reported. 

Rate regulation: 

The company is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”), under the authority granted by 
the Ontario Energy Board Act (1998).  The OEB has the power and responsibility to approve or 
fix rates for the transmission and distribution of electricity and transformer connection fees 
providing continued rate protection for rural and remote electricity customers, and ensuring that 
distribution companies fulfill obligations to connect and service customers.  The OEB may also 
prescribe license requirements and conditions of service to electricity distributors which may 
include, among other things, record keeping, regulatory accounting principles, separation of 
accounts for distinct businesses, and filing and process requirements for rate setting purposes.  
In its capacity to approve or set rates, the OEB has the authority to specify regulatory accounting 
treatments that may differ from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for 
enterprises operating in a non-rate regulated environment.  

In January 2000, the OEB established that distribution rates would be subject to Performance 
Based Regulation (“PBR”), a method of regulation whereby distribution rates are reduced 
annually to reflect productivity improvements required of the company.  Under this rate 
methodology, rates also include regulated amounts for return on company equity and debt, which 
were initially determined by the OEB to be 9.88% and 7.25%, respectively.  While the initial PBR 
regulatory framework provided for those regulatory rates of return, subsequent regulations and 
Provincial Government initiatives prevented distribution companies from fully achieving the 
theoretical rate of return on equity.  

In 2005, the company filed rate applications to adjust its distribution charges to provide for the full 
theoretical regulatory rate of return of 9.88% and continued recovery of its regulatory assets.  As 
mandated by the OEB, the rate increase is subject to a financial commitment by the company to 
invest $221,745 in conservation and demand management activities over the period July 1, 2004 
to April 30, 2008.  Spending on this program was completed in 2008. 

In 2006, the OEB approved the company’s 2006 distribution rates providing for a revised rate of 
return of 9.0% effective May 1, 2006. 

The company has an interim rate order from the OEB establishing the transformer connection 
fees which the company is allowed to charge.  The rate order was renewed March 18, 2009 and 
expires March 17, 2011, at which time, the company may become subject to a rate application 
process.  Historically, all transformer costs and connection fees in the province have been 
pooled, with the same rate in effect for all transformers in that pool. 
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8. Term loan: 

The term loan is a variable rate loan issued as bankers acceptances and is due March 9, 2012.  
The loan is secured by a general security agreement, assignment of fire insurance and 
guarantees by the company and Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc. in the amount of $6,500,000.  

The company has entered into a swap transaction for the full amount of the debt, the effect of 
which is to fix the interest rate of the loan at 5.6% until January 31, 2025. 

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is based on future discounted cash flows of 
amounts estimated by the company’s bank of the cost or benefit of the swap contracts until the 
end of the term of the loan.  At December 31, 2009, the interest rate swap agreement was in a 
net unfavourable position of $223,975 (2008 - $440,904), which has been classified as held-for-
trading.  This unfavourable amount has been included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  
The current year impact of the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap amounted to 
$216,929 and is included in interest on long-term liabilities. 
 

  2009 2008 
 
Term loan $ 2,607,000 $ 2,698,500 
Less principal due within one year 99,000 91,500 
 
  $ 2,508,000 $ 2,607,000 
 

The principal amounts over the next five years assuming the term loan is renewed under similar 
terms and conditions are as follows: 
  
  2010 $ 198,000 
  2011 214,000 
  2012 228,000 
  2013  246,000 
  2014  265,000 
   $ 1,151,000 

9. Share capital: 

 
  2009 2008 
 
Authorized:  

Unlimited common shares  
90 Class A cumulative, non-voting, redeemable, preferred shares 
10 Class B cumulative, non-voting, redeemable, preferred shares 

Issued: 
2,001 common shares $ 7,987,327 $ 7,987,327 
90 Class A preferred shares 90 –    
10 Class B preferred shares 1,100,000 –    
 

   $ 9,087,417 $ 7,987,327 
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9. Share capital (continued): 

During the year, the company entered into an amalgamation with Fortis Ontario. In accordance 
with the agreement, 10 Class B preferred shares were issued to Fortis Ontario for consideration 
of $1,100,000 and 90 class A preferred shares were issued to the Town of Grimsby for 
consideration of $90. 

10. Commitments and contingent liabilities: 

(a) A letter of credit in the amount of $964,845 has been issued in favour of the Independent 
Electricity System Operator (IESO) as security for the company’s purchase of electricity 
through the IESO.  No amounts were drawn down on the letter of credit at year end. 

(b) The company has entered into a contract to purchase computer software for $175,000 to be 
implemented in 2012. 

(c) The company has guaranteed the indebtedness of Niagara West Transformation 
Corporation, a joint venture, in the amount of $6,500,000.  As of December 31, 2009, 
$5,214,000 (2008 - $5,397,000) of the loan was outstanding and all financial covenants had 
been met. 

In general, liabilities of joint ventures are secured by pledges of the related assets.  At times, 
the joint venture participants may further support these obligations should the realization of 
joint venture assets not be sufficient.  As a 50% participant in a joint venture, the company is 
contingently liable at December 31, 2009 for the other participant’s share of the liabilities of 
$2,824,521 (2008 - $2,982,668) should they not be able to satisfy them, as well as for its own 
share. 

(d) In June 2009, the company entered into an agreement with Rondar Inc. for the regular 
maintenance on its equipment from 2009 to 2013. Under this agreement, the company will 
incur total maintenance costs over the next four years as follows: 

 
  2010 $ 3,787 
  2011 25,917 
  2012 3,890 
  2013   3,938 
 
   $ 37,532 

(e) A class action claiming $500 million in restitutionary payments plus interest was served on 
Toronto Hydro on November 18, 1998.  The action was initiated against Toronto Hydro 
Electric Commission as the representative of the Defendant Class consisting of all municipal 
electric utilities in Ontario.  The action against local distribution companies (LDC) has not yet 
been certified as a class action and no discoveries have been held, as the parties were 
awaiting the outcome of a similar proceedings brought against Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 
(formerly Consumers Gas).  
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10. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued): 

On April 22, 2004, the Supreme Court of Canada released a decision in the Consumers Gas 
case rejecting all of the defences which had been raised by Enbridge, although the Court did 
not permit the Plaintiff class to recover damages for any period prior to the issuance of the 
Statement of Claim in 1994 challenging the validity of late payment penalties.  The Supreme 
Court remitted the matter back to the Ontario Superior Court of Justice for determination of 
the damages.  At the end of 2006, a mediation process resulted in the settlement of the 
damages payable by Enbridge.   

In 2008, Enbridge filed an application to the Ontario Energy Board to recover the Court-
approved amount and related amounts from ratepayers.  On February 4, 2008, the OEB 
approved the recovery of the said amounts from ratepayers over a five year period. 

After the release by the Supreme Court of Canada of its 2004 decision in the Consumers 
Gas case, the plaintiffs in the LDC late payment penalties class action indicated their 
intention to proceed with their litigation against the LDC’s.  

At this time, it is not possible to quantify the effect, if any, on the financial statements of the 
company. 

(f) As a shareholder of the Niagara Regional Broadband Network Limited (NRBN) the company, 
along with three other shareholders, has guaranteed NRBN’s term loan for $2,700,000.  The 
company’s maximum liability under this guarantee is 25% of the total guarantee or $675,000. 

In 2014, should the NRBN not attain a certain cash position, the company must contribute 
$675,000 to NRBN.  

(g) The company has guaranteed the payment of a penalty in the event of early termination of a 
fixed rate loan agreement between Niagara West Transformation Corporation and a bank.  
The company’s liability is estimated at 50% of $223,975 (2008 - $440,904) and is recorded in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

11. Subsequent events: 

(a) Subsequent to year end, the company entered into a contract with the Town of Grimsby to 
design and install a co-generation system for an agreed upon price of $734,000. 

(b) Subsequent to year end, the company invested an additional $400,000 in equity of the 
Niagara Regional Broadband Network Limited (NRBN). 
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12. Payments in lieu of taxes: 

The provision for PILs varies from amounts which would be computed by applying the 
corporation’s combined statutory income tax rate of 48.7% (2008 – 48.7%) as follows: 
 

  2009 2008 
 
Basic taxes applied to income before PILs $ 291,255 $ 257,945 
Increase (decrease) in PILs resulting from: 

Tax basis of depreciable capital assets  
in excess of accounting basis 6,613 (87,261) 

Change in regulatory liabilities (111,470) –    
Change in future tax rate 131,123 (13,110) 
Prior year adjustments (32,043) –    
Other (127,480) (86,218) 
 

Effective taxes applied to income before PILs $ 157,998 $ 71,356 
 

13. Change in non-cash working capital: 
 

  2009 2008 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 

Accounts receivable: 
Service revenue $ (63,330) $ 320,683 
Other (147,737) (21,020) 

Payment in lieu of taxes (212,515) 579,641 
Unbilled revenue 138,914 (79,671) 
Inventory 3,325 481 
Prepaid expenses 57,564 15,224 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 124,842 (885,713) 
Customer and developer deposits 33,736 (13,047) 
  

  $ (65,201) $ (83,422) 
 

The company acquired property and equipment through non-cash capital contributions of 
$130,482 (2008 - $162,160). 

14. Related party transactions: 

The Town of Grimsby, the shareholder, was charged $348,991 (2008 - $383,683) to service 
street lighting in 2009.  The Town of Grimsby provided property services, water and vehicle fuel 
to the company.  The costs of these goods and services aggregating $39,930 (2008 -$49,161), 
was charged to capital assets, property taxes, administration, operations and maintenance.    
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount charged to unrelated parties. 
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15. Pension agreements: 

The company makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund 
(OMERS), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its full-time staff.  The plan is a defined 
benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees 
based on the length of service and rates of pay. 

Contributions during the year were 6.5% (2008 – 6.5%) for employee earnings below the year’s 
maximum pensionable earnings and 9.6% (2008 – 9.6%) thereafter.   

The amount contributed in 2009 is $63,503 (2008 – $63,085) and is included as an expenditure 
in the Statement of Earnings and Retained Earnings.  

16. General liability insurance: 

The company is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange 
(MEARIE) which is a pooling of general liability insurance risks.  Members of MEARIE would be 
assessed on a pro-rata basis should losses be experienced by MEARIE, for the years in which 
the company was a member. 

To December 31, 2009, the company has not been made aware of any additional assessments. 

Participation in MEARIE covers a three year underwriting period which expires January 1, 2010.  
Notice to withdraw from MEARIE must be given six months prior to the commencement of the 
next three year underwriting term.   

17. Income taxes: 

These financial statements do not take into account a tax benefit resulting from loss 
carryfowards, available to the company to reduce its income for tax purposes in future periods. 
These loss carryforwards, in the amounts indicated below, are available until the following dates. 

 
 Amount Available until 
 
 $ 45,848 December 31, 2009 
   110,387 December 31, 2010 
   1,027 December 31, 2013 
   111,056 December 31, 2015 
   78,661 December 31, 2026 
   70,430 December 31, 2028 
   161,353 December 31, 2029  
 
 $ 578,762   
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18. Supplementary cash flow information: 

 
  2009 2008 
 
Cash paid for: 

Interest $ 607,895 $ 638,460 
Payments in lieu of taxes 234,557 233 
 

Cash received for:  
Interest 200,287 157,163 
Payments in lieu of taxes –    375,556 
 

 

19. Financial instruments and risk management: 

The company carries various forms of financial instruments.  Unless otherwise noted, it is 
management’s opinion that the company is not exposed to significant liquidity or credit or interest 
risks arising from these financial instruments.  The company employs risk management 
strategies with a view to mitigating financial risks on a cost effect basis. 

(a) Fair values: 

The company’s financial instruments comprise cash, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, customers’ and developers’ deposits, promissory 
note and term loan. 

The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to their short-term nature. 

Customer and developer deposits have a fair value that approximate carrying value.  Interest 
is paid on deposits on a monthly basis at a market rate, as directed by the Ontario Energy 
Board. 

The promissory note is valued at its face value.  It is not practical within the constraints of 
timeliness or cost to reliably measure its fair value. 

The carrying amount of the long-term debt approximates its fair value because the interest 
rates approximate the market rate. 

(b) Liquidity risk: 

The company’s objective is to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due.   The 
company monitors its cash balance and cash flows generated from operations to meet its 
requirements. 

39



 

 

NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 16 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 

19. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

(c) Credit risk: 

Financial assets held by the company expose it to credit risk.  As at December 31, 2009, the 
company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentration of credit risk consist 
primarily of cash.  The company maintains cash and investment with Canadian chartered 
banks in excess of federally insured limits and is exposed to the credit risk from this 
concentration of cash. 

Financial assets are exposed to credit risk as a result of the counter-party defaulting on its 
obligations.  However, the company has a large number of diverse customers minimizing 
concentration of credit risk.  The company requires customers to provide security deposits 
subject to OEB regulations. 

(d) Interest risk: 

The company utilizes an interest rate swap contract to manage the risk associated with 
fluctuations in interest rates.  The company’s policy is not to utilize financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes.  The interest rate swap contract is used to reduce the impact 
of fluctuating interest rates on the company’s long-term debt.  The swap agreement requires 
the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the national principal amount on 
which the payments are based.  Payments and receipts under interest rate swap contracts 
are recognized as adjustments to interest expense on long-term debt.  Gains and losses on 
forward exchange contracts are recognized into income during the same period as the 
corresponding revenue and expenses. 

20.  Capital management: 

The company defines capital as its shareholders’ equity and promissory note. Management’s 
objective is to optimize the return to the shareholders while supporting and fostering the 
future growth of the company. There were no changes to the company’s approach to capital 
management during the year. 

In order to manage capital, the company regularly identifies and assesses risks that threaten 
the ability to meet the company’s capital management objectives, and determines the 
appropriate strategy to mitigate these risks. 

The company has customary covenants associated with its long-term debt. The company is 
in compliance with all credit agreement covenants and limitations associated with its debt. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Niagara Power Incorporated 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Niagara Power 
Incorporated, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2010 and the 
consolidated  statements of earnings and retained earnings and cash flows for the year then ended 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Niagara Power Incorporated as at December 31, 2010 and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

Emphasis of Matter 

The company is required to maintain a minimum debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.1:1 
and a tangible net worth of not less than $1,000,000.  In addition, the company is required to maintain 
a minimum level of 85% regulated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.  
The debt service coverage ratio covenant was violated at December 31, 2010 however the bank has 
issued a waiver of compliance as outlined in Notes 8 and 19. 
 

Southcott Davoli 
   Professional Corporation 
 
 

Chartered Accountants 
Authorized to practise public accounting by  
   The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario 

Grimsby, Ontario 

December 6, 2011 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
 
December 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009  
 
  2010 2009 % Change 
 
Assets 
 

Current assets: 
Cash $ 5,557,376 $ 6,023,854  (7.7) 
Accounts receivable:    

Service revenue 815,589 676,558 20.5 
Other 233,061 309,229 (24.6) 

Unbilled revenue 1,633,329 1,530,845 6.7 
Inventory 227,793 181,884 25.2 
Prepaid expenses 120,517 36,107 233.8 
Payment in lieu of taxes 47,580 190,874 (75.1) 
  8,635,245 8,949,351 (3.5) 

 
Long-term investment (note 3) 775,020 375,020 106.7 
   
Capital assets (note 4) 14,504,524 14,664,540 (1.1) 

 
Deposit on long term asset 94,500 94,500 – 
 
Regulatory assets (note 5) 854,127 –    100.0 
 
Future payment in lieu of taxes (note 11) 1,053,766 1,032,859 2.0 
  $ 25,917,182 $ 25,116,270  3.2 
 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 

Current liabilities: 
Bank loan (note 6) $ 1,600,000 $  –    100.0 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,818,536 2,745,322 2.7 
Deferred revenue 325,470 –    100.0 
Current portion of term loan 107,000 99,000 8.1 
  4,851,006 2,844,322 70.6 
 

Long-term liabilities: 
Customers’ and developers’ deposits 781,782 353,898 120.9 
Promissory note (note 7) 5,782,746 5,782,746 – 
Regulatory liabilities (note 5) –    1,025,025 (100.0) 
Term loan (note 8) 2,401,000 2,508,000 (4.3) 
Future payment in lieu of taxes 1,087,824 981,188 10.9 
  10,053,352 10,650,857 (5.6) 

Shareholders’ equity: 
Share capital (note 9) 9,087,417 9,087,417 – 
Retained earnings 1,925,407 2,533,674 (24.0) 
  11,012,824 11,621,091 (5.2) 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (note 10) 
  $ 25,917,182 $25,116,270  3.2 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
Approved by the Board: 
 
______________________________, Director           ______________________________, Director 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings and Retained Earnings 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009 
 
  2010 2009 % Change 
 
Revenue $ 19,376,653 $16,898,566  14.7 
 
Cost of sales  15,691,541 13,267,609 18.3 
  3,685,112 3,630,957 1.5 
 
Other revenue (expense): 

Investment   209,332 178,845 17.0 
Miscellaneous  265,174 321,178 (17.4) 
Loss on sale of capital assets –    (2,281) (100.0) 
  474,506 497,742 (4.7) 

 
  4,159,618 4,128,699 0.7 
 
Expenses: 

Operations 179,325 228,090 (21.4) 
Maintenance 397,850 380,246 4.6 
Administration  1,060,054 757,180 40.0 
Billing and collecting  487,848 447,268 9.1 
Marketing  11,749 11,428 2.8 
Property taxes   25,130 30,314 (17.1) 
Amortization  1,065,563 1,057,938 0.7 
Interest on long-term liabilities  636,635 499,430 27.5 
  3,864,154 3,411,894 13.3 

 
Earnings for the year 

 before payment in lieu of taxes 295,464 716,805 (58.8) 
 
Payment in lieu of taxes (note 11): 

Current (recovery) 83,152 (625) 13,204.3 
Future 85,729 158,623 (45.9) 
  168,881 157,998 6.9 

 
Net earnings 126,583 558,807 (77.3) 
 
Retained earnings, beginning of year 2,533,674 2,185,073 16.0 
 
Dividends (734,850) –    100.0 
 
Adjustment for change in accounting policy –    (210,206) (100.0) 
 
Retained earnings, end of year $ 1,925,407 $ 2,533,674  (24.0) 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009 
 
  2010 2009 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 
Operations: 

Net earnings  $ 126,583 $ 558,807 
Items not involving cash:  

Amortization (including amounts  
charged to operating accounts) 1,065,563 1,057,938 

Loss on sale of capital assets 464 2,281 
Loss on disposal of stranded meters 391,841 –    
Future payment in lieu of taxes 85,729 158,623 

Change in fair value of interest rate swap 12,161 (108,465) 
Change in non-cash working capital (note 12) 662,035 (65,201) 
  2,344,376 1,603,983 

 
Financing: 

Capital contributions received 867,342 87,808 
Proceeds on bank loan 1,600,000 –    
Repayment of term loan (99,000) (91,500) 
Dividends paid (734,850) –    
  1,633,492 (3,692) 

 
Investments: 

Proceeds on sale of capital assets 300 3,010 
Decrease in regulatory liabilities (1,879,152) (337,788) 
Additions to capital assets (2,165,494) (1,446,911) 
Deposit on long term asset –    (94,500) 
Increase in share capital –    1,100,090 
Increase in long term investment (400,000) –   
   (4,444,346) (776,099) 

 
Increase (decrease) in cash (466,478) 824,192 
 
Cash, beginning of year 6,023,854 5,199,662 
 
Cash, end of year $ 5,557,376 $ 6,023,854 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 

The company is incorporated under the laws of Ontario and its principal business activities are to 
distribute power, retail electricity, provide telecommunication services and hydro transformation 
services and design, build and operate a green energy generation facility within the Town of 
Grimsby.   

1. Accounting policies: 

(a) Basis of presentation: 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company’s 100% owned 
subsidiaries, Grimsby Energy Incorporated, Grimsby Hydro Incorporated and Grimsby Power 
Incorporated.  The company owns 50% of a joint venture, Niagara West Transformation 
Corporation, and records its investment using the proportionate consolidation method of 
accounting.  Under this method the company includes its proportionate share of the joint 
venture’s revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in the financial statements. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with the bank. 

(c) Unbilled revenue: 

Unbilled revenue is accrued from the last meter reading date to the end of the period. 

(d) Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on the 
average basis. 

(e) Investments: 

Long-term investments are recorded at cost.  Interest and dividends from these investments 
are included in income when received.  When there has been a loss in value of an 
investment that is other than a temporary decline, the investment is written down to reflect 
the loss. 

(f) Capital assets: 

Capital assets and intangibles are stated at cost.  The cost and related accumulated 
amortization of capital assets and finite lived intangibles are removed from the accounts at 
the end of their estimated service lives except in those instances where specific identification 
permits their removal at retirement or disposition.  Gains and losses at retirement or 
disposition are credited or charged to income.  Contributions in aid of capital assets and 
intangibles are recorded as deferred credits and amortized to income over the life of the 
related assets. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 2 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 
1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Capital assets (continued): 

Amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates: 

 
Asset Basis Rate 
 
Buildings Straight-line 25-50 years 
Distribution stations Straight-line 25 years 
Distribution plant Straight-line 25 years 
General equipment and intangibles Straight-line 3-40 years 
Capital contributions Straight-line 25 years 
 

Contributions in aid of construction consist of third party contributions toward the cost of 
constructing company assets.  Contributed capital has been charged to capital assets and 
recorded as an offset to capital assets.  Amortization is on a straight-line basis over 25 years. 

(g) Impairment of long-lived assets: 

Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized 
when their carrying value exceeds the total undiscounted cash flows expected from their use 
and eventual disposition.  The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of 
the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. 

(h) Asset retirement obligations: 

The company recognizes the liability for an asset retirement that results from acquisition, 
construction, development, or through normal operations.  The liability for an asset retirement 
is initially recorded at its fair value in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable 
estimate of fair value can be made.  The corresponding cost is capitalized as part of the 
related asset and is amortized over the asset’s useful life.  In subsequent years the liability is 
adjusted for changes resulting from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or 
the amount of the original estimate of the undiscounted cash flows.  The accretion of the 
liability to its fair value as a result of the passage of time is charged to earnings. 

(i) Payments in lieu of taxes (PILs): 

The company is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (ITA) and 
the Taxation Act, 2007. 

Pursuant to the Electricity Act (EA), the company is required to compute taxes under the ITA 
and Taxation Act, 2007 and remit such amounts computed thereunder to the Ministry of 
Finance (Ontario).   
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 3 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 
1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Payments in lieu of taxes (PILs) (continued): 

The company provides for PILs using the asset and liability method.  Under this method, 
future tax assets and liabilities are recognized, to the extent such are determined likely to be 
realized, for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  
A future income tax asset recognized shall be limited to the amount that is more likely than 
not to be realized. 

Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the date of enactment 
or substantive enactment.  When unrecorded future income taxes become payable, it is 
expected that they will be included in the rates approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB) 
and recovered from the customers of the company at that time. 

PILs recoverable from loss carryforwards are recorded in future payments in lieu of taxes on 
the balance sheet at the current enacted statutory tax rates expected to apply when recovery 
of the loss carryforwards are expected to be recovered. 

(j) Customers’ and developers’ deposits: 

Customers’ and developers’ deposits are recorded when received or paid.  Deposits earn 
interest at a rate of prime less 2%. 

(k) Regulatory assets and liabilities: 

Regulatory assets and liabilities represent differences between amounts collected through 
rates (OEB approved) and actual costs incurred by the distributor.  Regulatory assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet at year-end consist of settlement variances on the cost of 
power, deferred charges, and the associated regulated interest. 

(l) Revenue recognition: 

Power revenue is recognized on the accrual basis, which includes an estimate of unbilled 
revenue.  Service revenue is recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimated 
customer usage since the last meter reading date to the end of the year.  The related cost of 
power is recorded on the basis of power used.  Any discrepancies in the revenue collected 
and the associated cost of power to distribute are charged to regulatory assets. 

Transformation revenue is recorded from the transformation of electricity on the basis of peak 
demand for the month.  Revenue is recognized when the peak demand has occurred. 

Construction revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion basis whereby income is 
recorded in relation to the costs incurred.  If the estimated total cost on any contract indicates 
a loss, the total loss is recognized in income.  Income billed in advance is recognized as 
deferred income. 

Other revenue is recognized as earned. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 4 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 
1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(m) Financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their 
subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification as described below. Their 
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or 
issued, their characteristics and the company’s designation of such instruments. Settlement 
date accounting is used. 

The company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 

Cash Held-for-trading 
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables 
Unbilled revenue Loans and receivables 
Bank loan Other liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities 
Customers’ and developers’ deposits Other liabilities 
Promissory note Other liabilities 
Term loan Other liabilities 
Interest rate swap Held-for-trading 

(i) Held-for-trading: 

Held-for-trading financial assets are financial assets typically acquired for resale prior 
to maturity or that are designated as held-for-trading.  They are measured at fair 
value at the balance sheet date.  Fair value fluctuations including interest earned, 
interest accrued, gains and losses realized on disposal and unrealized gains and 
losses are included in other income. 

Financial liabilities designated as held-for-trading are those non-derivative financial 
liabilities that the company elects to designate on initial recognition as instruments 
that it will measure at fair value through other interest expense.  These are 
accounted for in the same manner as held-for-trading assets.  The company has not 
designated any non-derivative financial liabilities as held-for-trading. 

(ii) Loans and receivables: 

Loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

(iii) Other liabilities: 

Other liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
and include all financial liabilities, other than derivative instruments. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 5 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 
1.  Accounting policies (continued): 

(n) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and note disclosures related thereto.  Due to the inherent 
uncertainty in making estimates, actual results could differ from these estimates recorded in 
preparing these financial statements including changes as a result of future regulatory 
decisions. 

Accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and regulatory assets are stated after evaluation of 
amounts expected to be collected and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts.  
Inventory is recorded net of provisions for obsolescence.  Amounts recorded for amortization 
of capital assets are based on estimates of useful service life.  Other significant estimates 
and assumptions were used when accounting for items such as the determination of the fair 
market value of the interest rate swap, revenue recognition and future payment in lieu of 
taxes.  

(o) Foreign currency transactions: 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate 
prevailing at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the 
rate prevailing at the dates the assets were acquired or the liabilities incurred.  Revenue and 
expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the year except for depreciation 
and amortization which are translated at the rates prevailing at t6he dates the related assets 
were acquired.  The resulting foreign currency translation gains and losses are included in 
the determination of net income or loss. 

(p) Rate regulation: 

The company is in the process of applying for a contract through the Ontario Power Authority 
under its Feed-In Tariff (FIT) program relating to establishing a pricing contract for renewable 
electricity production. 

2. Future changes in accounting policies: 

International financial reporting standards (IFRS): 

In 2010, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) proposed that rate-regulated 
enterprises be required to adopt IFRS in place of Canadian GAAP effective January 1, 2012 and 
for investment companies effective January 1, 2013. The company is currently evaluating the 
impact of the adoption of IFRS on its financial statements. At this time, the impact on the 
company’s future financial position and results of operations is not reasonably determinable or 
estimable. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 6 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 

3. Long-term investment: 

The investment consists of 2,000 common shares of Niagara Regional Broadband Network 
Limited (NRBN).  During the year the company invested an additional $400,000 in the company. 

4. Capital assets: 

 
   2010 2009  
   Accumulated Net book Net book 
  Cost amortization value value 
 
Land $ 214,920 $ –    $ 214,920 $ 186,552 
Buildings 1,367,890 429,504 938,386 894,273 
Distribution plant 26,364,303 12,158,462 14,205,841 13,653,374  
General equipment 
 and intangibles 4,879,552 1,962,435 2,917,117 3,033,819 
Capital contributions (4,977,193) (1,205,453) (3,771,740) (3,103,478) 
 
  $27,849,472 $ 13,344,948 $14,504,524 $14,664,540 
 

Intangible assets representing computer software, is included in general equipment and 
intangibles and has an original cost of $467,221 (2009 - $434,101) and an accumulated 
amortization of $269,059 (2009 - $196,840).  Amortization expense on intangible assets totalled 
$72,219 (2009 - $6,111). 

During the year the company received $153,456  (2009 - $130,482) of capital contributions in aid 
of construction.  

5. Regulatory assets (liabilities): 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Regulatory assets (liabilities) 

Settlement variances $ (701,049) $ (1,158,850) 
Smart meters 1,555,537 114,496 
Regulatory assets recovery amount (361) 19,329 

 
  $ 854,127 $ (1,025,025) 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 7 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 

5. Regulatory assets (liabilities) (continued): 

Net regulatory assets (liabilities) represent costs incurred by the company in excess of amounts 
billed to the consumer (amounts recovered from customers in excess of cost incurred) at OEB 
approved rates less recoveries.  These amounts have been accumulated pursuant to the 
Electricity Act and deferred in anticipation of their future recovery in electricity distribution rates.  
Management assesses the future uncertainty with respect to the final regulatory disposition of 
those amounts, and to the extent required, makes accounting provisions to reduce the deferred 
balances accumulated or to increase the recorded liabilities.  Upon rendering of the final 
regulatory decision adjusting distribution rates, the provisions are adjusted to reflect the final 
impact of that decision, and such adjustment is reflected in net earnings for the period.  

Regulatory assets (liabilities) earn (incur) interest at the prescribed rates.  In 2010, the rates 
ranged from 0.55% to 1.2% (2009 – 0.55% to 2.45%). 

Settlement variances represent amounts that have accumulated since Market Opening and 
comprise: 

(a) variances between amounts charged by the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) 
for the operation of the wholesale electricity market and grid, various wholesale market 
settlement charges and transmission charges, and the amounts billed to customers by the 
company based on the OEB approved wholesale market service rate; and 

(b) variances between the amounts charged by the IESO for energy commodity costs and the 
amounts billed to customers by the company based on OEB approved rates. 

Smart meters: 

The Province of Ontario has committed to have “Smart Meter” electricity meters installed in 
certain homes and small businesses by the end of 2010.  Smart meters permit consumption to be 
recorded within specific time intervals and specific tariffs to be levied within such intervals.  The 
company has installed 10,035 Smart Meters upon completion of its meter deployment. 

Included in distribution rates, effective May 1, 2006, is a charge for smart meters of $1.00  (2009 - 
$0.27) per metered customer per month.  Consistent with the OEB’s direction and pending further 
guidance, all smart meter related expenditures and recoveries are currently being deferred in 
regulatory accounts. 

Regulatory assets recovery amount represents costs incurred by the company as of December 
31, 2004 which have been approved for recovery through rates net of amounts recovered from 
customers. 

The continuing restructuring of Ontario’s electricity industry and other regulatory developments, 
including current and possible future consultations between the OEB and interested 
stakeholders, may affect the distribution rates that the company may charge and the costs that 
the company may recover, including the balance of its regulatory assets. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 8 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 

5. Regulatory assets (liabilities) (continued): 

In the absence of rate regulation, Canadian generally accepted accounting principles would 
require the company to record the costs and recoveries described above in the operating results 
of the year in which they are incurred and reported earnings before income taxes would be 
$1,825,762 lower (2009 - $337,788 lower) than reported. 

Rate regulation: 

The company is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”), under the authority granted by 
the Ontario Energy Board Act (1998).  The OEB has the power and responsibility to approve or 
fix rates for the transmission and distribution of electricity and transformer connection fees 
providing continued rate protection for rural and remote electricity customers, and ensuring that 
distribution companies fulfill obligations to connect and service customers.  The OEB may also 
prescribe license requirements and conditions of service to electricity distributors which may 
include, among other things, record keeping, regulatory accounting principles, separation of 
accounts for distinct businesses, and filing and process requirements for rate setting purposes.  
In its capacity to approve or set rates, the OEB has the authority to specify regulatory accounting 
treatments that may differ from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for 
enterprises operating in a non-rate regulated environment.  

In January 2000, the OEB established that distribution rates would be subject to Performance 
Based Regulation (“PBR”), a method of regulation whereby distribution rates are reduced 
annually to reflect productivity improvements required of the company.  Under this rate 
methodology, rates also include regulated amounts for return on company equity and debt, which 
were initially determined by the OEB to be 9.88% and 7.25%, respectively.  While the initial PBR 
regulatory framework provided for those regulatory rates of return, subsequent regulations and 
Provincial Government initiatives prevented distribution companies from fully achieving the 
theoretical rate of return on equity.  

In 2005, the company filed rate applications to adjust its distribution charges to provide for the full 
theoretical regulatory rate of return of 9.88% and continued recovery of its regulatory assets.  As 
mandated by the OEB, the rate increase is subject to a financial commitment by the company to 
invest $221,745 in conservation and demand management activities over the period July 1, 2004 
to April 30, 2008.  Spending on this program was completed in 2008. 

In 2006, the OEB approved the company’s 2006 distribution rates providing for a revised rate of 
return of 9.0% effective May 1, 2006. 

The company has a transmission licence from the OEB stating that the company owns a 
transmission station connected to Hydro One Networks Inc. that provides power to the service 
areas of licensed distributors.  The decision and order are dated December 24, 2010 and expire 
December 23, 2030.. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 9 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
 

6. Bank loan: 

The company has available the following credit facilities with the bank: 

(a) $1,000,000 operating loan to finance working capital, bearing interest at the prime rate, 
due on demand 

(b) $964,845 letter of credit to satisfy IESO Prudential requirement, bearing interest at 0.6%, 
due on demand 

(c) $1,600,000 operating demand loan to assist with 2010 capital expenditures, bearing 
interest at the prime rate, due on demand 

(d) $1,600,000 committed reducing term loan by way of fixed rate term loan and floating rate 
term loan, fixed rate loan bearing interest at market rate as determined by the bank, 
floating rate loan bearing interest at prime rate plus 0.5%, fixed rate loan term up to 5 
years, floating rate loan term up to 1 year. 

The credit facilities are secured by a General Security Agreement, assignment of fire insurance 
on inventory and equipment, assignment of liability insurance, and Postponement Agreement 
executed by the bank, the Company and the Town of Grimsby. 

At December 31, 2010, the amount drawn on the credit facilities totalled $1,600,000 (2009 - $Nil). 

7. Promissory note: 

The promissory note payable to the Town of Grimsby bears interest at the rate of 7.25% per 
annum and matures on February 1, 2020.  Included in interest on long-term liabilities is $419,249 
(2009- $419,249) related to this note.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $419,249 
(2009 - $419,249) owing to the Town of Grimsby. 

8. Term loan: 

The term loan is a variable rate loan issued as bankers acceptances and is due March 9, 2012.  
The loan is secured by a general security agreement, assignment of fire insurance and 
guarantees by the company and Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc. in the amount of $6,500,000.  

The company has entered into a swap transaction for the full amount of the debt, the effect of 
which is to fix the interest rate of the loan at 5.6% until January 31, 2025. 

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is based on future discounted cash flows of 
amounts estimated by the company’s bank of the cost or benefit of the swap contracts until the 
end of the term of the loan.  At December 31, 2010, the interest rate swap agreement was in a 
net unfavourable position of $248,926 (2009 - $223,975), which has been classified as held-for-
trading.  This unfavourable amount has been included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  
The current year impact of the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap amounted to 
$24,321 and is included in interest on long-term liabilities. 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 10 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 

8. Term loan (continued): 
 

  2010 2009 
 
Term loan $ 2,508,000 $ 2,607,000 
Less principal due within one year 107,000 99,000 
 
  $ 2,401,000 $ 2,508,000 
 

The company has agreed to certain covenants with respect to this loan, including a minimum 
debt service coverage ratio.  As at December 31, 2010, the company was not in compliance with 
this particular covenant.  Subsequent to year end, the bank waived its compliance of the 
covenant violation and indicated its intention to not demand or accelerate payment of the loan 
during 2011. 

The principal amounts over the next five years assuming the term loan is renewed under similar 
terms and conditions are as follows: 

 
 
2011  $ 107,000 
2012   114,000 
2013   123,000 
2014   132,500 
2015   140,500 
 
 $ 617,000 
 

9. Share capital: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Authorized:  

Unlimited common shares  
90 Class A cumulative, non-voting, redeemable, preferred shares 
10 Class B cumulative, non-voting, redeemable, preferred shares 

Issued: 
2,001 common shares $ 7,987,327 $ 7,987,327 
90 Class A preferred shares 90 90 
10 Class B preferred shares 1,100,000 1,100,000 
 

   $ 9,087,417 $ 9,087,417 
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NIAGARA POWER INCORPORATED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, page 11 
 
Year ended December 31, 2009 
 
 

10. Commitments and contingent liabilities: 

(a) A letter of credit in the amount of $1,464,704 has been issued in favour of the Independent 
Electricity System Operator (IESO) as security for the company’s purchase of electricity 
through the IESO.  No amounts were drawn down on the letter of credit at year end. 

(b) Effective September 3, 2009, the company entered into a service contract to perform regular 
monthly inspections, maintenance and building and yard cleaning.  The estimate annual cost 
of these services if $6,050.  The term of the agreement expires September 3, 2011. 

(c) The company has guaranteed the indebtedness of Niagara West Transformation 
Corporation, a joint venture, in the amount of $6,500,000.  As of December 31, 2010, 
$5,016,000 (2009 - $5,214,000) of the loan was outstanding and all financial covenants had 
been met. 

In general, liabilities of joint ventures are secured by pledges of the related assets.  At times, 
the joint venture participants may further support these obligations should the realization of 
joint venture assets not be sufficient.  As a 50% participant in a joint venture, the company is 
contingently liable at December 31, 2010 for the other participant’s share of the liabilities of 
$2,737,015 (2009 - $2,854,521) should they not be able to satisfy them, as well as for its own 
share. 

(d) In June 2009, the company entered into an agreement for the regular maintenance on its 
equipment from 2009 to 2013. Under this agreement, the company will incur total 
maintenance costs over the next three years as follows: 

 
 
2011  $ 12,959 
2012   1,945 
2013   1,969 

 
  $ 16,873 
 

(e) In September 2010, the company entered into a contract for the design and planning of a bio-
digester for a total contract cost of 55,000 Euros.  Of this amount 13,570 Euros were paid 
prior to December 31, 2010 and is included as part of land  

(f) As a shareholder of the Niagara Regional Broadband Network Limited (NRBN) the company, 
along with three other shareholders, has guaranteed NRBN’s term loan for $2,700,000.  The 
company’s maximum liability under this guarantee is 25% of the total guarantee or $675,000. 

In 2014, should the NRBN not attain a certain cash position, the company must contribute 
$675,000 to NRBN.  

(g) The company has guaranteed the payment of a penalty in the event of early termination of a 
fixed rate loan agreement between Niagara West Transformation Corporation and a bank.  
The company’s liability is estimated at 50% of $248,296 (2009 - 223,975) and is recorded in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
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10. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued): 

(h) The company entered into a lease agreement to rent office space for a 6 month term at a rate 
of $508 per month plus additional common area costs.  The lease commences on January 1, 
2011 and the company is entitled to renew this lease for 2 additional terms of 3 months each. 

(i) The company has a commitment to pay $3,500 per month for system administration and non-
system related support related to a new SAP platform to a minority shareholder. 

(j) The company has entered into an agreement to purchase land at a cost of $200,000 with a 
closing date of June 10, 2011.  A deposit of $1,000 has been paid at December 31, 2010.  
The land will be used to build a bio-digester to generate renewable energy from bio-waste. 

11. Payments in lieu of taxes: 

The company’s income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 consists of the 
following: 

Temporary differences which give rise to future payments in lieu of tax assets and liabilities are 
as follows: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2,382 $ 2,167 
Capital assets 1,010,942 892,021 
Regulatory liabilities 40,442 138,671 
 
Future payments in lieu of taxes $ 1,053,766 $ 1,032,859 
 

The provision for PILs varies from amounts which would be computed by applying the 
corporation’s combined statutory income tax rate of 47.7% (2009 – 48.7%) as follows: 
 
  2010 2009 
 
Basic taxes applied to income before PILs $ 127,994 $ 291,255 
Increase (decrease) in PILs resulting from: 

Tax basis of depreciable capital assets in excess 
 of accounting basis –    6,613 

Change in regulatory liabilities (32,136) (111,470)  
Change in future tax rate 11,019 131,123) 
Prior year adjustments 58,563 (32,043)  
Other 3,441 (127,480) 

 
Effective taxes applied to income before PILs $ 168,881 $ 157,998 
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12. Change in non-cash working capital: 
 

  2010 2009 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 

Accounts receivable: 
Service revenue $ (139,031) $ (63,330) 
Other 76,168 (147,737) 

Payment in lieu of taxes 143,294 (212,515) 
Unbilled revenue (102,484) 138,914 
Inventory (45,909) 3,325 
Prepaid expenses (84,410) 57,564 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 61,053 124,842 
Deferred revenue 325,470 –    
Customer and developer deposits 427,884 33,736 
  

  $ 662,035 $ (65,201) 
 

The company acquired property and equipment through non-cash capital contributions of 
$713,887 (2009 - $42,674). 

13. Related party transactions: 

The Town of Grimsby, the shareholder, was charged $389,702 (2009 - $348,991) to service 
street lighting in 2010.  The Town of Grimsby provided property services, water and vehicle fuel 
to the company.  The costs of these goods and services aggregating $48,409 (2009 -$39,930), 
was charged to capital assets, property taxes, administration, operations and maintenance.  The 
company received from the Town of Grimsby $804,112 in connection with the Town Hall turbine 
project in 2010.  $478,642 of this amount has been recognized in revenue, the remaining 
$325,470 has been deferred to future years.  These transactions are in the normal course of 
operations and are measured at the exchange amount established and agreed to by the related 
parties. 
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14. Pension agreements: 

The company makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System 
(OMERS), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its full-time staff.  The plan is a defined 
benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees 
based on the length of service and rates of pay. 

Contributions during the year were 6.4% (2009 – 6.5%) for employee earnings below the year’s 
maximum pensionable earnings and 9.7% (2009 – 9.6%) thereafter.   

The amount contributed in 2010 is $76,319 (2009 – $63,503) and is included as an expenditure 
in the Statement of Earnings and Retained Earnings.  

The OMERS plan has a deficit as at December 31, 2010.  If actuarial surpluses are not available 
to offset the existing deficit, increases in contributions may be required in the future. 

15. General liability insurance: 

The company is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange 
(MEARIE) which is a pooling of general liability insurance risks.  Members of MEARIE would be 
assessed on a pro-rata basis should losses be experienced by MEARIE, for the years in which 
the company was a member. 

To December 31, 2010, the company has not been made aware of any additional assessments. 

Participation in MEARIE covers a three year underwriting period which expires January 1, 2011.  
Notice to withdraw from MEARIE must be given six months prior to the commencement of the 
next three year underwriting term.   

16. Income taxes: 

These financial statements do not take into account a tax benefit resulting from loss 
carryforwards, available to the company to reduce its income for tax purposes in future periods. 
These loss carryforwards, in the amounts indicated below, are available until the following dates. 

 
Available until  Amount 
 

 December 31, 2013 $ 1,000 
 December 31, 2015  111,000 
 December 31, 2026  79,000 
 December 31, 2028  70,000 
 December 31, 2029  161,000 
 December 31, 2030  360,000 
   
  $ 782,000 
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17. Supplementary cash flow information: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Cash paid for: 

Interest $ 624,475 $ 607,895 
Payments in lieu of taxes 3,885 234,557 
 

Cash received for:  
Interest 24,524 200,287 
Payments in lieu of taxes 63,731 –    
 

 

18. Financial instruments and risk management: 

The company carries various forms of financial instruments.  Unless otherwise noted, it is 
management’s opinion that the company is not exposed to significant liquidity or credit or interest 
risks arising from these financial instruments.  The company employs risk management 
strategies with a view to mitigating financial risks on a cost effect basis. 

(a) Fair values: 

The company’s financial instruments comprise cash, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, customers’ and developers’ deposits, promissory 
note and term loan. 

The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to their short-term nature. 

Customer and developer deposits have a fair value that approximate carrying value.  Interest 
is paid on deposits on a monthly basis at a market rate, as directed by the Ontario Energy 
Board. 

The promissory note is valued at its face value.  It is not practical within the constraints of 
timeliness or cost to reliably measure its fair value. 

The carrying amount of the long-term debt approximates its fair value because the interest 
rates approximate the market rate. 

(b) Liquidity risk: 

The company’s objective is to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due.   The 
company monitors its cash balance and cash flows generated from operations to meet its 
requirements. 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

(c) Credit risk: 

Financial assets held by the company expose it to credit risk.  As at December 31, 2010, the 
company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentration of credit risk consist 
primarily of cash.  The company maintains cash and investment with Canadian chartered 
banks in excess of federally insured limits and is exposed to the credit risk from this 
concentration of cash. 

Financial assets are exposed to credit risk as a result of the counter-party defaulting on its 
obligations.  However, the company has a large number of diverse customers minimizing 
concentration of credit risk.  The company requires customers to provide security deposits 
subject to OEB regulations. 

(d) Interest risk: 

The company utilizes an interest rate swap contract to manage the risk associated with 
fluctuations in interest rates.  The company’s policy is not to utilize financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes.  The interest rate swap contract is used to reduce the impact 
of fluctuating interest rates on the company’s long-term debt.  The swap agreement requires 
the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the national principal amount on 
which the payments are based.  Payments and receipts under interest rate swap contracts 
are recognized as adjustments to interest expense on long-term debt 

19. Capital management: 

The company defines capital as its shareholders’ equity and promissory note. Management’s 
objective is to optimize the return to the shareholders while supporting and fostering the future 
growth of the company. There were no changes to the company’s approach to capital 
management during the year. 

In order to manage capital, the company regularly identifies and assesses risks that threaten the 
ability to meet the company’s capital management objectives, and determines the appropriate 
strategy to mitigate these risks. 

The company has customary covenants associated with its long-term debt. The company is not 
in compliance with its TD Commercial Banking credit facility covenants. 

The company is required to maintain a minimum debt service coverage ratio of not less that 1.1:1 
and a tangible net worth of not less than $1,000,000.  This ratio was violated at December 31, 
2010, however the bank has issued a waiver of compliance as outlined in Note 8. 

20. Comparative figures: 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statement 
presentation adopted in the current year. 
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NWTC NPI Related 
Transactions Amalgamated

Transformer Connection Charges 840,000      840,000         

Other income
Interest Income 182,500         182,500         
Other Income 1,750          -                    1,750             

1,750          182,500         184,250         

TOTAL REVENUE 841,750      182,500         -                    1,024,250      

Administration 320,000      7,500             327,500         
Director's Fees and Expenses 57,500           57,500           
Professional Fees 25,000           25,000           
Insurance 1,100             1,100             
Amortization 175,000      175,000         
Interest 266,000      266,000         

TOTAL EXPENSE 761,000      91,100           -                    852,100         

NET INCOME 80,750        91,400           -                    172,150         

Retained Earnings, January 1st (1,947,431)  2,493,279      545,848         

Net Income 80,750        91,400           -                    172,150         

Dividends Paid (35,000)         (35,000)         

Retained earnings, end of period (1,866,681)  2,549,679      -                    682,998         

Proforma Income Statement
On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and Niagara Power Inc. (NPI)
December 31, 2013
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NWTC NPI Related 
Transactions

Amalgamated

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash 226,209         390,163         616,372         
Accounts Receivable 102,000         102,000         
Loans Receivable from Related Parties 2,154,789      2,154,789      
Income Taxes Recoverable -                     
Prepaid Expenses 22,100           5,500             27,600           

350,309         2,550,452      -                   2,900,761      

Capital Assets 6,013,597      6,013,597      
Long-Term Investment 9,107,644      (2,200,050)   6,907,594      

6,363,906      11,658,096    (2,200,050)   15,821,952    

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Charges 45,000           21,000           66,000           
Unrealized loss on Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap Agreemen 1,174,487      1,174,487      
Current Portion of Term Loan 265,000         265,000         

1,484,487      21,000           -                   1,505,487      

Long-Term Liabilities
Term loan 4,346,000      -                     4,346,000      

5,830,487      21,000           -                   5,851,487      

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 2,400,100      9,087,417      (2,200,050)   9,287,467      
Retained earnings (deficit) (1,866,681)    2,549,679      682,998         

533,419         11,637,096    (2,200,050)   9,970,465      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6,363,906      11,658,096    (2,200,050)   15,821,952    

Proforma Balance Sheet
On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and NIagara Power Inc. (NPI)
December 31, 2013

TOTAL ASSETS
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NWTC NPI Related 
Transactions Amalgamated

Transformer Connection Charges 838,000      838,000         

Other income
Interest Income 1,250          161,830         163,080         
Other Income 1,040          -                    1,040             

2,290          161,830         164,120         

TOTAL REVENUE 840,290      161,830         -                    1,002,120      

Administration 314,785      17,660           332,445         
Director's Fees and Expenses 54,800           54,800           
Professional Fees 70,000           70,000           
Insurance 1,080             1,080             
Amortization 175,000      175,000         
Interest 297,856      297,856         

TOTAL EXPENSE 787,641      143,540         -                    931,181         

NET INCOME 52,649        18,290           -                    70,939           

Retained Earnings, January 1st (2,000,080)  2,504,989      504,909         

Net Income 52,649        18,290           -                    70,939           

Dividends Paid (30,000)         (30,000)         

Retained earnings, end of period (1,947,431)  2,493,279      -                    545,848         

Proforma Income Statement
On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and Niagara Power Inc. (NPI)
December 31, 2012
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NWTC NPI Related 
Transactions

Amalgamated

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash 116,459         318,500         434,959         
Accounts Receivable 102,000         300                102,300         
Loans Receivable from Related Parties 2,154,789      2,154,789      
Income Taxes Recoverable -                     
Prepaid Expenses 22,100           5,440             27,540           

240,559         2,479,029      -                   2,719,588      

Capital Assets 6,013,597      6,013,597      
Long-Term Investment 9,107,644      (2,200,050)   6,907,594      

6,254,156      11,586,673    (2,200,050)   15,640,779    

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Charges 35,000           5,977             40,977           
Unrealized loss on Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap Agreemen 1,174,487      1,174,487      
Current Portion of Term Loan 246,000         246,000         

1,455,487      5,977             -                   1,461,464      

Long-Term Liabilities
Term loan 4,346,000      -                     4,346,000      

5,801,487      5,977             -                   5,807,464      

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 2,400,100      9,087,417      (2,200,050)   9,287,467      
Retained earnings (deficit) (1,947,431)    2,493,279      545,848         

452,669         11,580,696    (2,200,050)   9,833,315      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6,254,156      11,586,673    (2,200,050)   15,640,779    

Proforma Balance Sheet
On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and NIagara Power Inc. (NPI)
December 31, 2012

TOTAL ASSETS
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NWTC NPI Related 
Transactions Amalgamated

Transformer Connection Charges 740,984      740,984         

Other income
Interest Income 151,979         151,979         
Other Income 1,615          -                    1,615             

1,615          151,979         153,594         

TOTAL REVENUE 742,599      151,979         -                    894,578         

Administration 262,288      6,431             268,719         
Director's Fees and Expenses 45,866           45,866           
Professional Fees 23,229           23,229           
Insurance 1,080             1,080             
Amortization 180,891      180,891         
Interest 312,126      312,126         

TOTAL EXPENSE 755,305      76,606           -                    831,911         

NET INCOME BEFORE TAXES (12,706)       75,373           -                    62,667           

(348,672)     (348,672)       

NET INCOME (361,378)     75,373           -                    (286,005)       

Retained Earnings, January 1st (1,210,183)  2,443,189      1,233,006      

(428,519)     (428,519)       

Net Income (361,378)     75,373           -                    (286,005)       

Dividends Paid (13,573)         (13,573)         

Retained earnings, end of period (2,000,080)  2,504,989      -                    504,909         

Proforma Income Statement
On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and Niagara Power Inc. (NPI)
December 31, 2011

Loss on Change in Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap 
Agreement

Adjustment to Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap 
Agreement
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NWTC NPI Related 
Transactions

Amalgamated

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash 117,101         344,220         461,321         
Accounts Receivable 97,379           316                97,695           
Loans Receivable from Related Parties 3,154,789      3,154,789      
Income Taxes Recoverable 3,885             3,885             
Prepaid Expenses 20,847           5,716             26,563           

235,327         3,508,926      -                   3,744,253      

Capital Assets 6,188,596      6,188,596      
Long-Term Investment 8,107,644      (1,200,050)   6,907,594      

6,423,923      11,616,570    (1,200,050)   16,840,443    

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Charges 47,416           20,625           68,041           
Unrealized loss on Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap Agreemen 1,174,487      1,174,487      
Loans Payable to Related Parties 3,539             3,539             
Current Portion of Term Loan 228,000         228,000         

1,449,903      24,164           -                   1,474,067      

Long-Term Liabilities
Term loan 4,574,000      -                     4,574,000      

6,023,903      24,164           -                   6,048,067      

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 2,400,100      9,087,417      (1,200,050)   10,287,467    
Retained earnings (deficit) (2,000,080)    2,504,989      504,909         

400,020         11,592,406    (1,200,050)   10,792,376    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6,423,923      11,616,570    (1,200,050)   16,840,443    

Proforma Balance Sheet
On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and NIagara Power Inc. (NPI)
December 31, 2011

TOTAL ASSETS
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NWTC Annual Report - 2011 
 
 
Chair’s Remarks 
 
In my concluding remarks at the 2010 annual general meeting I indicated that going 
forward would be challenging for NWTC primarily because we were facing a shortfall in 
revenues to meet operating expenses and the station’s inability to accommodate green 
energy projects. 
 
I am pleased to note that in terms of boosting revenues for 2011 the Board was successful 
in convincing the Ontario Energy Board to increase the allowable monthly transmission  
rate to $1.77 per kilo watt effective March 1, 2011. That change in the rate resulted in 
revenues increasing by approximately 9% by year end. It also meant that the the NWTC 
Board no longer contemplated approaching the holding companies for an infusion of cash 
to avoid depleting our cash position at the bank and for the Board to meet a budgetary 
expenditure of some $548 thousand. 
 
Of significance as well, the OEB was informed by Hydro One Networks that NWTC 
would have no remaining financial obligations in relationship to the cost recovery 
agreements between NWTC, Hydro One, Grimsby Power, and the former Peninsula West 
Utilities. 
 
Through the efforts Peter Wicks our Board Member and our contract with Rondar we 
continue to undertake not only regular maintenance of the station on a timely basis but 
also to replace equipment such as the batteries and to ensure protection of the station with 
new intruder and upgraded fire alarms. 
 
The other significant issue facing the station currently and going forward into the future 
is its obligation under the Green Energy Act to connect FIT and Micro Fit projects. As 
the station is presently configured its fault rating is operating at around 98% capacity. 
Consequently, it is unable to accommodate additional power coming into the station from 
green energy projects. 
 
To correct for this problem would require new switch gears that would be very expensive 
and outside the financial capability of the station’s current operating budget. The only 
other alternative would be for either the station’s shareholders or a proponent to make the 
financial commitment for the upgrade. To this end, there are ongoing discussions 
between one Proponent for a wind energy project and Grimsby Power to determine the 
most appropriate method. At this juncture, connection to the station is not recommended 
and the Board has so informed all known potential proponents. 
 
In terms of its administration, the Board accepted the resignation of   Karen Bubish who 
acted as a Vice President Administration.   The Board designated me to assume the duties 
of that position. The vacancy of that position has since been refilled with a new member 
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The Board was made aware that discussions were initiated between the shareholders 
Niagara Power Inc. and Penn West Power Inc. regarding the acquisition of shares in the 
company. If successful, this may result in NWTC being wholly owned by NPI. 
 
In view of this eventuality, the Board made a decision to request Grimsby Power through 
its CEO to lead the discussions relating to the upgrade of the station to accommodate 
green energy projects. 
 
In closing I would like to thank the members of the Board and those who have assisted 
the Board for their support in concluding another successful year of operations. 
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2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
YTD Deficit 958,311            1,060,633        875,752            778,355            624,582            688,417            
Deficit 102,322            184,881-            97,397-              153,773-            63,835              12,705              

1,060,633        875,752            778,355            624,582            688,417            701,122            

Interest swap 521,767            521,767            521,767            521,767            1,298,958        

1,060,633        1,397,519        1,300,122        1,146,349        1,210,184        2,000,080        

Share Capital 2,400,100        
YTD Deficit from Operations 701,122-            

1,698,978        849,489            

1,000,000        
849,489.00-      
150,511.00      
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NWTC NPI
Related 

Transactions
Amalgamated

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash 226,209         390,163         616,372         

Accounts Receivable 102,000         102,000         

Loans Receivable from Related Parties 2,154,789      2,154,789      

Income Taxes Recoverable -                     

Prepaid Expenses 22,100           5,500             27,600           

350,309         2,550,452      -                   2,900,761      

Capital Assets 6,013,597      6,013,597      

Long-Term Investment 9,107,644      (2,200,050)   6,907,594      

6,363,906      11,658,096    (2,200,050)   15,821,952    

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Charges 45,000           21,000           66,000           

Unrealized loss on Fair Value of Interest Rate Swap Agreement 1,174,487      1,174,487      

Current Portion of Term Loan 265,000         265,000         

1,484,487      21,000           -                   1,505,487      

Long-Term Liabilities
Term loan 4,346,000      -                     4,346,000      

5,830,487      21,000           -                   5,851,487      

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 2,400,100      9,087,417      (2,200,050)   9,287,467      

Retained earnings (deficit) (1,866,681)    2,549,679      682,998         

533,419         11,637,096    (2,200,050)   9,970,465      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6,363,906      11,658,096    (2,200,050)   15,821,952    

Proforma Balance Sheet

On the amalgamation of Niagara West Transformation Corporation (NWTC)

and NIagara Power Inc. (NPI)

December 31, 2013

TOTAL ASSETS
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7MINUTES of a special meeting of the Shareholder of Niagara Power Incorporated held in the Grimsby 
Power Boardroom, 231 Roberts Road, Grimsby, Ontario on Thursday, January 26, 2012 at 6:05 p.m. 
 

Present:  Bob Bentley  
    David Wilson 
    Dave Kadwell 
    Joanne Johnston 

Nick DiFlavio 
David Finch 
Michelle Seaborne 
Carolyn Mullins 
  
 

Invited Guests: James Detenbeck 
  Joe Panetta 
  Shafee Bacchus 

Doug Curtiss 
Barbara Lattimer    

 
Constitution of Meeting 
 
The Chair noted that a quorum of the Shareholder was present and that notice of the meeting had been 
given in accordance with the by-laws of the Corporation. 
 
Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 
 
There were none. 
 
Welcome  
 
James Detenbeck, Chair of Niagara Power welcomed the Shareholder to the meeting and turned the 
meeting over to Joe Panetta as he was the individual at the forefront of the discussion and drove the 
dialogue on the tentative deal to purchase PWP’s 50% share of NWTC.   
 
Presentation 
 
Joe Panetta provided a review of the station from its inception.  The why’s and how’s around deciding to 
build the $8 million asset was provided as well as an overview of the financial status from 2007 to present 
and the issues that contributed to each years’ bottom line.  Also identified for the Shareholder was the rate 
increase granted by the OEB effective March 2011. 
 
As information the Shareholder was provided a copy of a Proforma which recognized the positive aspect 
of placing the transformer asset inside of Grimsby Power. 
 
Action:  In order to compare the difference of not having the asset included, two proformas are to be 
distributed to the Shareholder as information. 
 
The tentative deal details were discussed including the offer price of $1Million as well as having to 
assume PWP’s debt of $2.4million.   
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Joe Panetta outlined the reasons why NPI should buy the asset and in turn place into GPI which included 
 

• guaranteeing GPI’s own future 
• GPI as the LDC would be able to obtain approximately $220,000 for each of the next 4 years with 

placing the asset inside GPI.  
• By having the transformer housed under GPI there is no risk to the LDC 
• NPEI gave its guarantee that they would not build a new TS to “strand” the existing Smithville 

location   
• should NPEI choose not to buy their power through the station, again no issue as the LDC’s is 

“paid on the asset” on the rate of return allowed by the OEB- around the 9% just by holding the 
asset  

•  The corporation sells power and makes $, and if transforming also makes $ on that activity.  
•  LDC is paid on total assets, so by moving the asset into GPI the number would look like $24M 

versus $16M GPI.  
• NWTC is a virtual company and needs professionals 
• NWTC is currently managed under the NWTC Board of Directors – multiple persons/confusion 
• GPI has the right professional people 
• Good piece of paper business, proper shuffle makes $ 
• NWTC has losses which GPI can apply (losses cannot be used at NPI) 
• Doing nothing is not an option as our partner PWP does not wish to participate - they are a holding 

company only and not a market participant 
• Risks are the same for each owner  - need rate application  - in end no difference   
• We pay ourselves versus paying someone else 
• GPI  would be raising profit which is what the Shareholder had previously made comment 
• Economics make sense 

 
The Shareholder was advised that the debt of the station is paid off in 2025.  GPI would then save the 
interest payments of the loan estimated at $335,000 per year.  It was noted that the rate of return will go 
down when interest is paid as that is part of the mathematical equation in determining the rate of return %.  
Other savings to moving the asset into the LDC are various cost savings on synergies. ie regulatory and 
board fees   
 
The Shareholder was advised that discussion with Fortis as a possible partner has taken place and that 
Fortis would be allowed to invest 10% only.  Final details on any financial transaction would have to be  
agreed to.   Should Fortis decide they do not wish to participate, there are still options available to 
NPI/GPI. 
 
The Shareholder was advised that NWTC is in compliance with the TD Bank’s Tangible Net Worth Test 
and not in compliance with Debt Service Test.  This is the explanation for the “offside”…not that NWTC 
couldn’t pay their bills.  
 
The Shareholder was advised that Niagara Power is looking for a resolution from the Shareholder.  The 
Shareholder asked to go in camera to discuss.  Upon completing their discussion, the following resolution 
was brought forward to a vote. 
 
Moved by:      Bob Bentley 
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Seconded by:  David Wilson 
 
 

RESOLVED that the municipal shareholder of Niagara Power Incorporated authorizes the Board 
of Directors of Niagara Power to purchase the shares currently held by Peninsula West Power Holdings in 
NWTC for $1,000.000.  ($1Million) excluding closing costs. 
 
Only opposed – Dave Kadwell. 
 
 
Termination 
 
On motion, the meeting then terminated at 9:00 p.m.  
 
 
 
 
 
Chair  
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